In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DENNIS TERRY MARTINEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S219970

SUPREME COURT

NOV 1 0 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E057976 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FMB1200197 The Honorable Daniel Detienne, Judge Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can a trial court order victim restitution for injuries suffered as a result of the collision in a hit and run where the defendant is sentenced to prison, not probation?

INTRODUCTION

While driving a pickup truck, appellant collided with 12-year-old Jacob who was riding his scooter. After alighting and seeing the extent of Jacob's injuries, appellant fled the scene. Jacob sustained multiple injuries from the collision, including a traumatic brain injury, which required lengthy hospitalization. The sentencing court ordered appellant to pay \$425,654.63 in direct victim restitution for the boy's medical expenses. But the Court of Appeal reversed, holding that a victim cannot seek victim restitution for injuries caused as a result of the collision in a hit-and-run case—regardless of whether the defendant is at fault for the collision—because the "gravamen" of the crime is not the initial collision, but the defendant's flight. This court should reverse the Court of Appeal.

A victim has a constitutional and statutory right to restitution for injuries suffered "as a result of the commission of a crime." Because the right to victim restitution is constitutionally mandated, it must be liberally and broadly construed. So construed—indeed, even plainly construed—the "commission of a crime" must include at the very least the acts that form the constituent parts of the crime; in other words, the crime's elements. Accordingly, a hit-and-run victim can seek restitution for injuries caused by the collision because a defendant's involvement in the collision is an element of that offense. Whether the defendant is liable for the injuries—and if so, to what extent—is a separate matter for the sentencing court to determine, as it does in all restitution cases.

In addition to the plain language of the victim restitution law, other factors dictate that victims should be able to pursue restitution in the criminal courts for collisions in hit-and-run cases. First, it effectuates the primary purpose of the hit-and-run statute: To ensure that injured victims can recover for their losses by preventing at-fault drivers from fleeing. Second, allowing victims to seek restitution in the criminal courts only for the portion of their injuries caused or exacerbated by the defendant's flight, while forcing victims to pursue separate civil actions for the injuries caused by the initial collision, would violate their right to "seek and secure" restitution "in any trial or appellate court with jurisdiction over the case" and to have courts "act promptly" in adjudicating this right (see Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (c), par. (1) & subd. (b), par. (13)), and would further contravene basic principles of judicial economy. Third, and finally, many of the reasons this court set forth in *People v. Carbajal* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1114, 1124 (Carbajal)—which held that direct victim restitution as a probation condition is proper in a hit-and-run case—apply with equal force in prison cases. Moreover, as victim restitution is permitted in probation cases, it also must be allowed in prison cases because a victim's constitutional right to restitution should not depend on what sentence a defendant receives.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 26, 2012, appellant was driving a pickup truck when he collided with 12-year-old Jacob, who was riding a scooter. (CT 88.) Realizing that Jacob was gravely injured, appellant fled the scene. (CT 1, 94.) Police began an investigation to identify and find appellant. (CT 90.) Through various leads, the police were able to find the truck's original owner, which led the police to appellant's son, and eventually to appellant. (CT 90, 91–93.) This took approximately 24 hours. (CT 88, 94.)

Appellant admitted hitting Jacob with his truck. (CT 94–95.) He said that he saw the boy "bounce" off his truck and hit the road hard. (CT 95.) Appellant further acknowledged the extent of the injuries, telling police that he got out of his truck and found the boy lying unconscious in the road with a "puddle" of blood and "green liquid" around his head. (CT 95.) Jacob's mother then appeared at the scene screaming. (CT 95.) Appellant said that he walked back to his truck, he watched an ambulance arrive and load the boy, and then he drove off. (CT 95.)

According to appellant's statements to the police, he knew that fleeing was a crime, but he did so anyway because he was on felony probation and unlicensed. (CT 95.) Appellant also told the police that he and his son later drove the truck to the home of one of his son's friends. (CT 95.) According to appellant, he did this not to hide the truck from law enforcement, but rather because he usually brought the truck there. (CT 95.) This conflicted with appellant's son's early statements to police that he did not know where the truck was. (CT 95, 98.) The son later said that he lied to police because he did not want appellant to get in trouble for hitting the victim with his truck. (CT 98.) Appellant further claimed that he had not washed or altered the truck in any way since the accident. (CT 96.) Finally, appellant admitted that he had smoked marijuana the morning of the accident, but he claimed that he had long since stopped feeling the marijuana's effects, did not smoke any additional marijuana after that, and did not believe his driving was impaired at the time of the accident. (CT 96.) None of appellant's statements were made under penalty of perjury.

Besides appellant, the only witnesses to the collision were Jacob and another 12-year-old boy. (CT 88, 90.)¹ The police could not interview

¹ In its opinion, the Court of Appeal states that the mother witnessed the accident. (Slip opn. at pp. 4, 16.) There is no support in the record for (continued...)

Jacob because he was unconscious. (CT 90.) Once he awoke, he was unable to recall the accident due to the traumatic brain injury he suffered. (RT 17.) The police interviewed the other 12-year-old boy; at the time appellant's identity was still unknown, and the interview focused exclusively on identifying the truck that had struck Jacob. (CT 91.)

On June 12, 2012, appellant pleaded guilty to "hit and run" with injury in violation of Vehicle Code section 20001, subdivision (a). (CT 9–11; RT 6, 26.) The plea agreement contained a *Harvey*² waiver. (CT 10.) The parties stipulated that the factual basis for the plea was in the felony complaint and the police report. (RT 6; see also CT 1–2 [felony complaint] & CT 88–107 [police report].)

At sentencing, the court heard from Jacob's mother. (RT 13.) She related how her son "had multiple facial fractures, a fractured clavicle and was diagnosed with traumatic brain injury." (RT 14.) After the collision, Jacob was in intensive care for nine days as doctors tried to save his life. (RT 14.) Jacob was later moved to a children's hospital in another county where he began extensive rehabilitation therapy. (RT 15.) He had to wear diapers, and other people had to feed and bathe him. (RT 15–16.) After

^{(...}continued)

that conclusion. The police report does not list her as a witness (CT 88) and by all accounts she appeared on the scene at some time after the collision took place (CT 95). The court appears to have based its conclusion on the mother's comment during her victim-impact statement that, "The fact that my son collided with the vehicle was an accident. The fact that Martinez left my son in the roadway is cowardly." (RT 13; see also slip opn. at p. 4.) This victim-impact statement was certainly not meant as testimony about the cause of the collision and, absent any evidence that the mother saw the accident, is of no probative value whatsoever.

² People v. Harvey (1979) 25 Cal.3d 754 (Harvey) [absent waiver the facts of uncharged or dismissed counts cannot be used at sentencing against a defendant who pleads guilty to other charges].

five weeks, he was sent home to continue physical, occupational, and speech therapy locally. (RT 16.) Jacob's recovery was predicted to take years. (RT 16.)

The court denied appellant probation. (RT 25.) It then sentenced him to the midterm of three years for the "hit and run," and based on appellant's admission that the new case was a violation of his current probation, imposed an additional three years for his original conviction to run concurrently. (RT 25–27.)

Five months later, the court heard argument on the issue of victim restitution under Penal Code section 1202.4. (RT 29.) Defense counsel argued that the court could not impose direct victim restitution because appellant was not "necessarily at fault for the accident" and the victim's economic losses flowed from the injuries suffered as a result of the collision itself and not appellant's flight from the scene. (RT 31–32.) Relying on *People v. Rubics* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 452 (*Rubics*), the sentencing court found that appellant could be ordered to pay restitution because the accident was an element of the offense and, thus, part of appellant's criminal conduct. (RT 37.) The court also observed that the collision occurred while appellant was on felony probation and unlicensed. (RT 36–37.)

Following the court's decision to grant restitution, the parties entered into a stipulation agreeing to an amount of \$425,654.63. (RT 39; CT 80–81.)

Appellant appealed the imposition of restitution, asserting the same argument he presented below—that he was not liable for the economic losses suffered by the victim because the losses were attributable to the collision. He argued that the "gravamen" of a hit-and-run offense is the "running," not the "hitting." The Court of Appeal agreed with appellant and expressly disagreed with the holding in *Rubics*. (Slip opn. at pp. 10–

11.) Accordingly, the court reversed the restitution award and remanded the case to the sentencing court for a hearing to determine if any of the economic losses could be attributed to appellant's flight and, if so, to order restitution on just those losses. (Slip opn. at p. 17.)

Respondent filed a petition for review, which this court granted on September 10, 2014.

ARGUMENT

I. HIT-AND-RUN VICTIMS HAVE A CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY RIGHT TO SEEK RESTITUTION FOR INJURIES SUFFERED AS A RESULT OF THE COLLISION

A victim has a constitutional and statutory right to restitution for injuries suffered "as a result of the commission of a crime." Because "involve[ment] in an accident resulting in injury" is an element of the offense of "hit and run" (Veh. Code, § 20001), it necessarily occurs in "the commission of [that] crime" (Pen. Code, § 1202.4, subd. (a)(1)), and a hit-and-run victim therefore may obtain restitution for collision injuries to the extent "defendant's conduct" caused them (*id.*, subd. (f)). Indeed, this rule effectuates the primary purpose of the hit-and-run laws, ensures a victim's right to promptly secure restitution in any court, and aligns with this court's decision in *Carbajal*, *supra*, 10 Cal.4th 1114.

A. Victims' Constitutional Right to Restitution Mandates a Liberal and Broad Construction of Penal Code Section 1202.4

Victims of crime have a constitutional right to restitution. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28.) As this court has explained, this right derives from a "constitutional mandate" and it is therefore "not to be interpreted according to narrow or supertechnical principles, but liberally and on broad general lines, so that it may accomplish in full measure the objects of its establishment and so carry out the great principles of government."

(People v. Giordano (2007) 42 Cal.4th 644, 655 (Giordano), quoting Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 244–245.)

A review of the history and language of article I, section 28 further reveals just how broad and robust this right was meant to be. In creating this right in 1982, as part of Proposition 8, "The Victims' Bill of Rights," California voters declared the "unequivocal intention of the People of the State of California that . . . [r]estitution shall be ordered from the convicted person in every case . . . in which a crime victim suffers loss[.]" (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, as adopted on June 8, 1982, italics added.) Yet despite this unequivocal mandate, the voters found that "[s]ometimes . . . judges [did] not order restitution." (Official Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2008), Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 58.)

In response, the California electorate in 2008 again voted to amend the California Constitution to reiterate the "require[ment] that, without exception, restitution be ordered from offenders who have been convicted, in every case in which a victim suffers a loss." (Official Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2008), Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 58, italics added.) This 2008 amendment, known popularly as "Marsy's Law," further clarified the intended meaning of the term "victim" and, in doing so, also broadened the meaning of "loss." As for the term "victim," the California Constitution now clearly includes as "victims" not just the object of the crime, but also "the person's spouse, parents, children, siblings, or guardian, and . . . [the] lawful representative of a crime victim who is deceased, a minor, or physically or psychologically incapacitated." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (e).) The California Constitution also

³ The 2008 Official Voter Information Guide is included in respondent's motion for judicial notice filed concurrently with this brief.

describes the breadth of the term "loss" as including not only "direct . . . physical, psychological, or financial harm" but also "threatened physical, psychological, or financial harm as a result of the commission or attempted commission of a crime or delinquent act." (Ibid., italics added.) The amendment also gave victims the power to "seek and secure" restitution "in any trial or appellate court with jurisdiction over the case as a matter of right" and required that courts "act promptly" in adjudicating such requests. (Id., art. I, § 28, subd. (b), par. (13), subpar. (A) & subd. (c), par. (1).)

To implement victims' constitutional right to restitution, the Legislature enacted various statutes which led to today's version of Penal Code section 1202.4. (See Giordano, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 652–653 [chronicling the lengthy history of the Legislature's implementation of statutes and codes responsive to article I, section 28]; see also People v. Broussard (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1067, 1075 (Broussard) [article I, section 28] mandated the Legislature "to enact laws requiring trial courts to order restitution 'in every case . . . in which a crime victim suffers a loss . . . "].) Consistent with the Legislature's initial constitutional mandate, and the voters' later amendment of article I, section 28 to reflect a broadening of victims' right to restitution, Penal Code section 1202.4 should be interpreted "liberally and on broad lines" and not in a "narrow or supertechnical" manner. (See Giordano, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 655.) Indeed, courts have frequently observed that Penal Code section 1202.4 should be so construed. (See, e.g., *People v. Beaver* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 107, 127 ["[a] victim's restitution right is to be broadly and liberally construed"]; People v. Phelps (1996) 41 Cal.App.4th 946, 950 ["the word 'loss' must be construed broadly and liberally to uphold the voters' intent"]; *People v. Beck* (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 209, 219 ["Because the constitution speaks of "comprehensive provisions and laws," "restitution . . . for financial losses," and "[r]estitution . . . from the

convicted persons in every case," the mandate is clearly to interpret implementing statutes broadly and liberally to the end that the 'unequivocal intention of the People of the State of California that all persons who suffer losses as a result of criminal activity shall have the right to restitution,' may be served"]; but see *People v. Runyan* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 849, 865 (*Runyan*) [broad and liberal construction does not merit expansive definition of "victim" beyond what the Constitution and statute cover].)

Accordingly, this court should liberally and broadly construe Penal Code section 1202.4 in determining its application in this case.

B. The Plain Language of Penal Code Section 1202.4,
Applied to Vehicle Code Section 20001, Permits a
Sentencing Court to Order Victim Restitution for
Injuries Suffered as a Result of a Hit-and-run Collision

Penal Code section 1202.4 requires victim restitution for economic losses incurred as a result of a criminal offense for which a defendant is convicted. According to the statute, "a victim of crime who incurs an economic loss as a result of the commission of a crime shall receive restitution directly from a defendant convicted of that crime." (Id., subd. (a)(1), italics added.) Thus, "in every case in which a victim has suffered economic loss as a result of the defendant's conduct, the court shall require that the defendant make restitution to the victim or victims in an amount established by court order, based on the amount of loss claimed by the victim or victims or any other showing to the court." (Id., subd. (f), italics added.) Liberally and broadly construed—indeed, even plainly construed—the "commission of a crime" and "defendant's conduct" must include at the very least the acts that form the constituent parts of the crime; in other words, the crime's elements.

The crime of "hit and run" is governed by Vehicle Code section 20001 et seq. Vehicle Code section 20001, subdivision (a) provides: "The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to any

person . . . or in the death of any person shall immediately stop the vehicle at the scene of the accident and shall fulfill the requirements of Sections 20003 and 20004." Vehicle Code section 20003 requires the driver involved in an accident resulting in injury or death to stop and provide information and render aid to the victim. (*Id.*, subd. (a).) Section 20004 requires the driver, if there is no police officer present, to immediately report the accident to authorities. Failure to comply is a crime. (See Veh. Code, § 20001, subds. (b)(1) and (b)(2).) Thus, as pertinent here, the elements of the crime of "hit and run" are: (1) While driving, the defendant was involved in a vehicle accident; (2) the accident caused serious injury to someone else; (3) the defendant knew that he or she had been involved in an accident that injured another person or knew from the nature of the accident that it was probable that another person had been injured; and (4) the defendant willfully failed to perform one or more of the statutorily required duties. (See CALCRIM No. 2140; see also CALJIC No. 12.70.)

Because "involve[ment] in an accident resulting in injury" is an element of the offense of "hit and run" (Veh. Code, § 20001), it necessarily occurs in "the commission of [that] crime" (Pen. Code, § 1202.4, subd. (a)(1)), and a court therefore can impose victim restitution for the injury to the extent it was caused by "defendant's conduct" (*id.*, subd. (f)). The Court of Appeal in *Rubics*, *supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th 452⁴ adopted this very analysis. There the defendant's truck collided with the victim's motorcycle, killing him. (*Id.* at p. 455.) The trial court ordered victim

⁴ This court has thrice cited *Rubics* approvingly. (See *Runyan*, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 861 [citing *Rubics* as a "cf." for the proposition that "defendant convicted of fatal hit-and-run [was] properly ordered to pay restitution to victim's family for funeral expenses"]; People v. Anderson (2010) 50 Cal.4th 19, 32 [citing *Rubics* for idea that probation is an act of clemency not a matter of right]; Giordano, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 663, fn. 7 [same].)

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