In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S219970

vs.

Court of Appeal Case No. E057976

DENNIS TERRY MARTINEZ, Defendant and Appellant.

Superior Court Case No. FMB1200197

On Review From
The Fourth Appellate District, Division Two,
And The San Bernardino County Superior Court
The Honorable Daniel Detienne, Judge

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB - 6 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thomas E. Robertson State Bar No. 262659 225 Broadway, Suite 1460 San Diego, California 92101 (619) 544 - 9911

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

ARGUMENT

I.

PENAL CODE SECTION 1202.4 DOES NOT AUTHORIZE RESTITUTION FOR THE INJURIES SUSTAINED IN THE ACCIDENT, IN THIS PARTICULAR CASE, WHERE THE ACCIDENTAL COLLISION WAS NOT CRIMINAL CONDUCT AND MARTINEZ STAYED AT THE SCENE UNTIL PARAMEDICS ARRIVED.

A. After imposing a prison sentence, a trial court may not order restitution under section 1202.4 unless the harm was caused by defendant's criminal conduct.

The scope of victim restitution "depends on whether the restitution is ordered pursuant to section 1202.4 or as a condition of probation pursuant to section 1203.1." (*People v. Rahbari* (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 185, 190; see also *Anderson*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at pp. 28-29.) If defendant receives probation, section 1203.1 gives the trial court "broad" discretion to impose restitution, *even where the losses were not caused by criminal conduct*. (*Anderson*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at pp. 27, 29.) But if the sentence is state prison, section 1202.4 governs the scope of restitution with "explicit and narrow" limits. (*Id.* at pp. 28-29.)

In particular, section 1202.4 precludes victim restitution unless the crime actually caused the loss:

It is the intent of the Legislature that a victim of crime who incurs an economic loss as a result of the commission of a crime shall receive restitution directly from a defendant convicted of that crime.

(§ 1202.4, subd. (a)(1).) Thus, where "a victim has suffered economic loss

as a result of the defendant's conduct," the amount of restitution is limited to the "economic loss incurred as the result of the defendant's criminal conduct." (Compare § 1202.4, subd. (f), with § 1202.4, subd. (f)(3); see also *People v. Percelle* (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 164, 180.) In other words, "when a defendant is sentenced to state prison, section 1202.4 limits restitution to losses caused by the criminal conduct for which the defendant was convicted." (*People v. Lai* (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 1227, 1249.)

Here, Martinez received a prison sentence for leaving the scene of the accident. The broad scope of restitution as a condition of probation under section 1203.1 does not apply. Instead, the strict rule of causation under section 1202.4 controls. In arguing the two separate statutory frameworks should collapse into one rule, Respondent misplaces reliance on this Court's decision in *People v. Carbajal* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1114. (RBOM 27-30.)⁴

Contrary to Respondent's assertion, *Carbajal* does not apply with "equal force" to a prison case. (RBOM 28.) Rather, from the first sentence of the "Discussion" section, the opinion highlighted that "[w]e deal in this case with restitution as a condition of probation." (*Carbajal, supra,* 10 Cal.4th at p. 1120.) In its analysis, *Carbajal* drew a line between

⁴ Citations to Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits are abbreviated as (RBOM [page].) As to briefing in the Court of Appeal, citations to Appellant's Opening Brief are abbreviated as (AOB [page]), and citations to Respondent's Brief are abbreviated as (RB-COA [page]).

(1) "Proposition 8 and its implementing legislation"; and (2) section 1203.1, the statute governing conditions of probation. (*Id.* at p. 1122.) Notably, this Court held the limits of the implementing legislation did not trump the broader discretion for orders of probation:

We . . . conclude that nothing in Proposition 8 or [the implementing legislation] purports to limit or abrogate the trial court's discretion, under Penal Code section 1203.1, to order restitution as a condition of probation where the victim's loss was not the result of the crime underlying the defendant's conviction."

(*Ibid.*, italics added.) Under the central holding of *Carbajal*, therefore, the probation statute authorizes trial courts to impose restitution, as a condition of probation, even where the crime did not cause the harm. Thus, compared to section 1202.4, the probation statute provides a more expansive scope of restitution.

Respondent argues different standards for prison and probation restitution "would *create* a rule where the victim's right hinged on a defendant's sentence." (RBOM 29, italics added.) But as the *Carbajal* decision clarified, the distinction already exists. The two standards are a

⁵ At the time of the sentencing in *Carbajal*, the relevant implementing legislation was codified at section 1203.4. (*Carbajal, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1122.) In the mid-1990's, however, the legislature consolidated the state's victim restitution scheme, including provisions of section 1203.4, into section 1202.4. (See *People v. Giordano* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 644, 653.) Thus, the "implementing legislation" discussed in *Carbajal* currently exists in section 1202.4.

function of two independent statutes. (Carbajal, supra, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1122.) And as a result, "[t]rial courts continue to retain authority to impose restitution as a condition of probation in circumstances not otherwise dictated by section 1202.4." (Anderson, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 29.) In Anderson, for example, the defendant received probation for leaving the scene of an accident, and the trial court ordered that restitution be paid directly to the victim's treating hospital. (Id. at p. 22.) Defendant argued that the hospital was not a "victim" within the meaning of section 1202.4. (Ibid.) This Court upheld the restitution order, however, observing that even if the hospital did not qualify under the "explicit and narrow" requirements of section 1202.4, the trial court had broader discretion under the probation statute to order direct payment to the hospital. (Id. at pp. 29, 34.)

In resisting this well-settled rule that the scope of victim restitution is broader in probation cases, Respondent contends that "probation conditions are imposed as *punishment* [rather than furthering the purpose of victim compensation]." (RBOM 28, original italics, citing *People v. Richards* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 614, 620.) But *Richards* did not state probation conditions are "punishment." Instead, "[t]he major goal of section 1203.1 is to rehabilitate the criminal." (*Richards, supra,* 17 Cal.3d at p. 620; see also *Anderson, supra,* 50 Cal.4th at p. 27 ["While restitution under section 1203.1 may serve to compensate the victim of a crime, it also addresses the

broader probationary goal of rehabilitating the defendant."].) And it is this goal of rehabilitation that supports the expansive discretion to impose conditions of probation:

When section 1203.1 provides the court with discretion to achieve a defendant's reformation, its ambit is necessarily broader, allowing a sentencing court the flexibility to encourage a defendant's reformation as the circumstances of his or her case require.

(Anderson, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 29) Thus, contrary to Respondent's suggestion, the primary purpose of probation (and the statute effectuating this purpose) transcends the limitations on restitution set forth by section 1202.4.⁶ Put another way, a trial court may impose victim restitution as a condition of probation "even when the loss was not necessarily caused by the criminal conduct underlying the conviction." (*Id.* at p. 27, quoting *Carbajal, supra,* 10 Cal.4th at p. 1121.)

Unlike Carbajal, this case does not involve conditions of probation.

⁶ Respondent also argues that the broader scope of restitution, as a probation condition, is problematic in cases where probation is revoked. (RBOM 30.) But this argument ignores a central justification for the broad discretion to impose probation conditions. Specifically, "probation is an act of clemency and grace." (*Anderson, supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 32.) It is "not a matter of right." (*Ibid.*, citing *Rubics, supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 459.) Thus, "the trial court can impose probation conditions that it could not otherwise impose." (*Ibid.*) And "[i]f the defendant finds the conditions of probation more onerous than the sentence he would otherwise face, he may refuse probation." (*Ibid.*) But where he has "voluntarily agreed to the terms of probation, a defendant cannot use his own breach of those terms as a basis for evading the properly imposed restitution obligation he assumed." (*People v. Kleinman* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1476.) Even after revocation, therefore, a restitution order remains legitimate and proper.

It is a state prison case, and the strict limits of section 1202.4 apply. If Martinez's criminal conduct did not cause the boy's harm, then restitution was improper. (*Lai, supra,* 138 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1246-1249; *Percelle, supra,* 126 Cal.App.4th at p. 180.)

B. The boy's injuries were neither caused nor aggravated by Martinez's criminal conduct of leaving the scene.

The criminal conduct of the hit and run offense is leaving the scene of the accident without presenting identification and rendering aid. (Veh. Code, § 20001, subd. (a); § 20003, subd. (a); *People v. Valdez* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 82, 89-90.) In other words, "the purpose of section 20001, subdivision (a) is to punish not the 'hitting' but the 'running.'" (*People v. Braz* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 425, 433, quoting *People v. Corners* (1985) 176 Cal.App.3d 139, 148.) Martinez does not challenge the Court of Appeal's conclusion, therefore, that restitution would be proper in the "amount, if any, which reflects the degree to which the victim's injuries were exacerbated, if at all, by defendant's flight." (Slip opn. at pp. 17-18.)

In the present case, however, Martinez's act of leaving the scene neither caused nor aggravated the victim's injuries. Following the collision, Martinez stopped, exited his truck, and attended the injured boy. (1 CT 95.) Further, when the boy's mother arrived, Martinez returned to his truck and waited until paramedics arrived and loaded the boy for transport. (1 CT 95.)

Because Martinez stayed at the scene until paramedics took control of the situation, the eventual act of leaving the scene—although criminal—did not cause the boy's injuries. In other words, the injuries "from the collision existed regardless of whether the appellant subsequently left the scene of the accident." (*Columbus v. Cardwell* (Ohio Ct. App. 2008) 893 N.E.2d 526, 528 [reversing restitution for injuries arising from underlying accident of hit and run conviction].) As the collision was the sole cause of the boy's injuries, therefore, the issue becomes whether this collision was "criminal conduct" within the meaning of section 1202.4.

C. The accidental collision between the scooter and Martinez's vehicle was not "criminal conduct."

In this particular case, the collision was not criminal conduct. First, there is no evidence that Martinez was driving recklessly or otherwise at fault for the incident. Instead, the collision was an accident. And second, under California law governing the offense of hit and run—consistent with the majority position nationwide—an accidental collision is not criminal conduct.

1. Martinez was not at fault for the collision, which was an accident.

The record does not establish Martinez was at fault for the collision. The boy's scooter entered the path of Martinez's truck, and even the boy's mother testified the collision was an accident. (1 CT 94;

1 RT 13.) Further, despite the availability of percipient witnesses, the government did not file any criminal charges related to Martinez's driving. (See *Commonwealth v. Cooper* (Pa. Super. Ct. 1983) 466 A.2d 195, 197 [reversing restitution in a hit and run case for losses arising from accident where "review of the guilty plea record suggests that such charges [for having struck the victim] may well have been considered and found unsupportable"].)

Respondent asserts that leaving the scene establishes an inference of fault for the collision. (RBOM 19, citing § 1127c.) But section 1127c does not support Respondent's assertion for two reasons. First, the statute addresses "[t]he flight of a person immediately after the commission of a crime." (§ 1127c.) Here, Martinez left the scene of a motor vehicle accident—rather than the scene of a crime—and did not leave "immediately." Rather, Martinez attended the injured boy and waited until paramedics arrived. (1 CT 95.) And second, the statute makes flight a factor for a jury to determine guilt. (§ 1127c.) Indeed, flight "is not sufficient in itself to establish [defendant's] guilt." (Ibid.; see also Brooks v. E. J. Willig Truck Transp. Co. (1953) 40 Cal.2d 669, 676 [approving jury instruction in civil case that "the fact that [the driver] left the scene of the accident could not, in and of itself, be the basis of a verdict [for negligence]

against defendants"].)⁷ Standing alone, therefore, flight cannot establish an inference of guilt.

Respondent also contends that the trial court made a factual finding of fault for the accident and, further, that Martinez failed to challenge this finding on appeal. (RBOM 16, fn. 7.) Neither contention is accurate. The trial court premised "fault" on a legal finding that unlicensed driving was the "but for" cause of the accident, as follows: "because [Martinez] was on felony probation and unlicensed, I think this whole incident occurred even before he got into the accident." (1 RT 36-37.) But restitution requires both "but for" causation and proximate causation. (People v. Jones (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 418, 424-425.) In other words, unlicensed driving without more—cannot sustain restitution for the accident. (*Ibid.*; see also Section II(C), infra.) And in his Opening Brief on appeal, Martinez did challenge the court's finding that the unlicensed driving established fault for the accident.⁸ (See, e.g., AOB 12-14 [including a subject heading on the issue].) In particular, Martinez argued "the record contains no evidence that the absence of a driver's license caused the collision between Martinez

⁷ The *Brooks* decision proceeded to hold that liability is automatic for the harm caused, or aggravated, by the act of leaving the scene. (40 Cal.2d at p. 678) Martinez does not dispute that this rule equally governs victim restitution.

⁸ As set forth in Section II(A), *infra*, Respondent did not respond to this argument in the Court of Appeal.

and the scooter." (AOB 14.)

The Court of Appeal agreed, noting "the evidence here, or lack thereof, was at best, for the People, inconclusive and, at worst, negated any culpability of defendant for the collision." (Slip opn. at p. 17.) Instead, the collision between the truck and the scooter was an accident.

2. The accidental collision was not "criminal conduct" within the meaning of section 1202.4.

Longstanding law in California holds that the underlying accidental collision is not the "criminal conduct" of the hit and run offense. (See *Valdez, supra,* 189 Cal.App.4th 82, 87-90 [examining "cases stretching back more than 50 years"].) In other words, the statute "does not make criminal the actual accident or event which causes the physical contact with the victim." (*People v. Wood* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 862, 866.) And "[t]he fact that defendant *subsequently* fled does not retroactively alter the character of the accident from noncriminal to criminal." (*Valdez, supra,* 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 90, original italics; see also *Braz, supra,* 65 Cal.App.4th 425, 432-433; *People v. Escobar* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1504, 1510-1512.) 9

⁹ Before *Carbajal* was decided, several decisions in the Court of Appeal reversed restitution as a condition of probation, in hit and run cases, for losses from the underlying accident, by acknowledging the rule that the accident is "noncriminal conduct occurring prior to the defendant's unlawful flight." (*Escobar, supra*, 235 Cal.App.3d at p. 1510; see also *People v. Lafantasie* (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 758, 762-763; *Corners, supra*,

The Valdez decision illustrates the distinction between the accidental hitting and the criminal conduct of running. In Valdez, the defendant was driving a vehicle, struck a pedestrian by accident, and left the scene without giving anyone his identifying information. (189 Cal.App.4th at p. 86.) In addition to the hit and run offense, the government alleged an enhancement under section 12022.7, subdivision (a), for inflicting "great bodily injury on any person other than an accomplice in the commission of a felony or attempted felony." (Id. at p. 87, original italics.) The Valdez court reversed the true finding on the enhancement, however, holding the defendant was not engaged in the commission of a felony "at the time of the traffic accident that caused the injuries in this matter." (Id. at p. 90.) The victim's injuries, therefore, "were caused by acts which occurred prior to the criminal act, not as a result of the criminal act." (*Ibid.*, internal quotations omitted.)

Of the high courts in other states that have addressed the issue in the context of victim restitution, the overwhelming majority agree that the criminal act is leaving the scene, not the underlying accident. For example, the Oregon Supreme Court consolidated two criminal cases to evaluate

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